Agroforestry and Forestry in Sulawesi series:

Profitability of land-use systems in South Sulawesi and Southeast Sulawesi

Arif Rahmanulloh, M. Sofiyuddin and Suyanto



Agroforestry and Forestry in Sulawesi series: Profitability of land-use systems in South Sulawesi and Southeast Sulawesi

Arif Rahmanulloh, M. Sofiyuddin and Suyanto

Working paper no. 157

LIMITED CIRCULATION



Correct citation:

Rahmanulloh A, Sofiyudin M, Suyanto. 2012. Agroforestry and Forestry in Sulawesi series: Profitability and land-use systems in South and Southeast Sulawesi. Working paper 157. Bogor, Indonesia: World Agroforestry Centre (ICRAF) Southeast Asia Regional Program. 16p. DOI: 10.5716/WP12056.PDF.

Titles in the Working Paper Series aim to disseminate interim results on agroforestry research and practices and stimulate feedback from the scientific community. Other publication series from the World Agroforestry Centre include: Agroforestry Perspectives, Technical Manuals and Occasional Papers.

Published by the World Agroforestry Centre ICRAF Southeast Asia Regional Program Jalan CIFOR, Situ Gede, Sindang Barang Bogor 16115, Jawa Barat [PO Box 161, Bogor 16001] Indonesia

Tel: +62 251 8625415 Fax: +62 251 8625416 Email: icraf-indonesia@cgiar.org http://www.worldagroforestrycentre.org/sea

© World Agroforestry Centre 2012 Working Paper 157

Photos:

The views expressed in this publication are those of the author(s) and not necessarily those of the World

Agroforestry Centre.

Articles appearing in this publication may be quoted or reproduced without charge, provided the source is acknowledged.

All images remain the sole property of their source and may not be used for any purpose without written permission of the source.

About the authors

Arif Rahmanulloh is a researcher under the Economic and Policy Unit (EPU) in ICRAF-SEA Regional Office specializing in Agroforestry economic and engage closely with various studies about land-use financial and economic assessments since 2007. Arif obtained his bachelor degrees on Forest Management at Gadjah Mada University.

M.Sofiyuddin is a researcher on Agroforestry Economist that familiarize with the Socio Economic methodology research such as household survey, Participatory Rural Appraisal (PRA) and Rapid Rural Appraisal (RRA) method. Yudi involves in design of survey and questionnaires, train enumerators for survey try-out and data collection, data compiling, data cleaning and data tabulation, data analyzing and interpretation.

Dr. S Suyanto has more than 15 years experience in natural resource management and institutional analysis. He has worked at the ICRAF-Southeast Asian Regional Research Programme based in Indonesia since 1994, developing a range of skills in socio-economic, natural resource economics, econometrics and institutional analysis. He conducted a study on the evolution of indigenous land tenure and tree resource management in the buffer zone of Kerinci National Seblat Park in Sumatra for his PhD dissertation. In the last five year, He managed several research projects relate on climate change, namely (1). "Efficient and Fair ways of Avoiding Carbon Emissions in Indonesia's Forest Margins: next steps in Negotiation Support Systems" (Ford Foundation Project); (2) "Sustainable livelihood options and carbon rights: a basis for efficient and fair emission reduction in the Central Kalimantan Ex-Mega Rice Project" (AUSAID Project); (3) "Fair, Efficient and Sustainable Emission Reduction from Land Use in Indonesia (FESERLUI)" – (Packard Project); (4) " Accountaibility and local level initiative to reduce emission from deforestation and degradation in Indonesia" (ALLREDDI-EU Project). He is currently leading the economic and policy analysis unit in ICRAF's Indonesia.

Abstract

This profitability assessment is an early effort to generate baseline information for the Agroforestry and Forestry in Sulawesi: Linking Knowledge with Action project (the 'AgFor project'), for implementation in two provinces, South Sulawesi and Southeast Sulawesi. The study collected information on existing farming systems and estimated profitability for each land use. The profitability indicators used in the study are: net present value (NPV), equivalent annuity and return to labour. Our estimation shows that in South Sulawesi the most profitable land-use system using the annual equity measure was clove gardens, followed by coconut-cacao mixed-gardens and coconutgardens. Timber-garden systems generated the highest return to labour of the other land uses, while the coconut used for sugar system generated the lowest (USD 6 per day). In Southeast Sulawesi, the most profitable land-use system using the annual equity measure was timber-gardens (teak), followed by pepper monoculture, and patchouli monoculture. Timber-gardens (teak) generated the highest return to labour of the others, while the cacao monoculture system generated the lowest (USD 10 per day).

Keywords: profitability, net present value, equivalent annuity, return to labour

Acknowledgements

This study was conducted as part of The Agroforestry and Forestry in Sulawesi: Linking Knowledge with Action project (the 'AgFor Sulawesi project'), by the World Agroforestry Centre (ICRAF), which is funded principally by the Canadian International Development Agency (CIDA).

The authors would like to thank the farmers in South Sulawesi and Southeast Sulawesi who were involved in this study, by participating in discussions, interviews and field observations.

Contents

1. Introduction	1
2. Methods	1
Study site	1
Data collection	
Data analysis	2
3. Results and discussions	
Selected main land-use systems	4
Profitability	
Labour engagement	
4. Conclusion	
References	16

List of tables

Table 1. Macroeconomic parameters used in the study	2
Table 2. Land cover of South Sulawesi and the selected main land-use systems	5
Table 3. Selected main land-use systems in Southeast Sulawesi	7
Table 4. Productivity of selected land-use systems	9
Table 5. Profitability and return to land of land-use systems in South Sulawesi	10
Table 6. Profitability of land-use systems in Southeast Sulawesi	12
Table 7. Labour engagement	14

1. Introduction

This study is an early attempt to provide baseline information for the proposed enhanced livelihood of rural areas intervention to be conducted in Sulawesi, as part of the Agroforestry and Forestry in Sulawesi: Linking Knowledge with Action project ('AgFor Sulawesi project'), by the World Agroforestry Centre (ICRAF). Assessing the profitability of existing farming systems will generate information about which farming systems are most efficient, thus able to generate more income for household farmers. Understanding farming system efficiency will also help farmers in resource allocation. They will be able to invest in the systems that provide the highest financial return, leading to improvement in their quality of livelihood. As well as profitability, it is important to understand the labour engagement of farming systems, in order to ensure suitable development intervention. Labour engagement in farming systems is linked to the demographic condition of the area. By understanding the figures of labour engagement of the existing systems, we can analyse the workforce availability for proposed development intervention.

This study aims to 1) estimate profitability of existing land use, and 2) provide figures of labour engagement in the farming systems of the study site.

2. Methods

Study site

This study took place in two provinces, South Sulawesi and Southeast Sulawesi. In South Sulawesi, we selected a mountainous area located in the districts of Bantaeng and Bulukumba, approximately 150 kms from Makassar. The area of Bulukumba district is 1154.7 km² and inhabited by 394 757 people in 2010 (BPS 2010). The adjacent district of Bantaeng is smaller, covering an area of 395.83 km² with a population of 170 057 people in 2010.

In Southeast Sulawesi we selected the districts of Konawe and Kolaka. The area of Konawe is approximately 16 480 km², while Kolaka is 6918.38 km². The population of Kolaka was 314 812 people in 2010, and Konawe was 246 798 in 2011 (BPS 2012).

Data collection

The first stage of the study was to select the land use systems for the profitability analysis. Primary data was collected using rapid rural appraisal (RRA). Data of farm budgets for each different land use were gathered (including price, production, labour and input), for the period of 2012.

The people interviewed for the purpose of the study consisted of farmers, traders and government officers. Land-use data was developed from interviewing these various sources to define the most common patterns as practiced by farmers in the study site.

We also conducted focus group discussions (FGDs) to collect comprehensive information about the main uses of land in the villages. Each FGD consisted of approximately 5–9 farmers, and we were assisted by local translators to reduce language barriers.

The study also collected data from secondary sources, such as government publications. The fieldwork for the data collection was undertaken in March 2012.

Data analysis

The data collected during the fieldwork was analysed to create farm budgets. We employed assumptions for all farm budgets consisting of exchange rates, daily wage rates and interest rates (Table 1). These farm budgets were then used to estimate the profitability indicators for return to land, net present value (NPV) and return to labour.

Table 1. Macroeconomic parameters used in the study

Parameters	
Exchange rate	IDR 9085 =USD 1
Wage rate in:	
South Sulawesi	USD 3.3/day
Southeast Sulawesi	USD 5.5/day
Private interest rate	8%/year

The wage rate for agricultural work was IDR 30 000–50 000 per day, and the exchange rate was IDR 9085 = USD 1. Real interest rates (interest rate net of inflation) were the discount factors used to value future cash flows in current terms. We suggest that a private discount rate of 8% is a lower boundary for the actual cost of capital for a smallholder owing to imperfections in capital markets in the study

area. Due to the time constraints and lack of reliable time-series data, the study used single year price data (2012 prices).

Return to land

We used net present value (NPV) as one of the indicators for return to land. NPV is the most common indicator used for comparing the profit of different types of investment (in this case, different types of land use). The NPV of an investment is defined as the sum of the present values of the annual cash flows, minus the initial investment. The annual cash flows are the net benefits (revenue minus costs) generated from the investment during its lifetime. These cash flows are discounted or adjusted by incorporating the uncertainty and time value of money (Gittinger 1982).

NPV is one of the most robust financial evaluation tools to estimate the value of an investment. The formula to calculate the NPV is as follows:

$$NPV = \sum_{t=0}^{t=n} \frac{B_t - C_t}{(1+i)^t}$$

Where B_t is benefit at year t, C_t is cost at year t, t is time denoting year and i is discount rate.

NPV in this study is calculated at private price. NPV at private price shows private profitability, as a measure of profitability and as a production incentive. The investment for one specific land use is labeled profitable if the NPV is higher than 0. The higher the NPV, the higher the profitability of that investment.

Equivalent annuity

Since each land-use system has a different cycle, we used equivalent annuity to make the comparison between land-use systems possible. The formula is described as follows:

$$C = \frac{r(NPV)}{1 - (1+r)^{-n}}$$

C = Equivalent Annuity Cash Flow NPV = Net Present Value r = rate per periodn = number of periods The equivalent annuity expresses the NPV as an annualized cash flow by dividing it by the present value of the annuity factor. Due to the character of the definition itself, it is generally argued that using NPV or its equivalent annuity is the same (Luciano 2001).

Return to labour

The measure of return to labour is approached by adjusting the wage rate until the NPV reaches 0. This proxy can be used since the calculation converts the surplus to a wage rate (Vosti et al. 2000). The value of return to labour indicates the attractiveness of the system: if the return to labour is higher than the average wage rate, then it is attractive for people to work in the system. In comparison, if the value is lower than the daily work return (wage rate), then people tend to choose other opportunities rather than this system.

3. Results and discussions

Selected main land-use systems

South Sulawesi

The land-use system identification for this profitability assessment was selected based on FGDs about livelihood, conducted in each village. The FGDs identified the main uses of land that were managed by villagers to generate the majority of their income. The result was 11 land-use systems for assessment in this study (Table 2).

Category	Land-use type	Products	Scale of operation (ha)	Location (village)
Crops	Maize	Maize	0.5-1	Bonto Cinde
Mixed-garden	Candlenut garden	Candlenut, maize	1	Bonto Cinde
	Kapok garden	Kapok, maize	1	Bonto Cinde
	Coffee garden	Coffee, maize	1	Kayuloe
	Coconut sugar garden	Coconut sugar	1	Tugondeng
	Coconut-cacao garden	Coconut, cacao	1	Tugondeng
	Cacao-coffee garden	Cacao, coffee, fruit	1	Campaga
	Cacao-coffee-clove garden	Cacao, coffee, clove, fruit	1	Campaga
Timber-garden	Gmelina garden	Gmelina	0.5-1	Karassing
	Sengon-gemelina garden	Sengon, gmelina	0.5-1	Karassing
Monoculture	Clove garden	Clove	1	Barong Rappoa

Table 2. Land cover of South Sulawesi and the selected main land-use systems

The study noted that maize cultivation was widely practiced in the village of Bonto Cinde in the Bantaeng district. Farmers cultivated maize intensively, even in the area with hilly topography. Looking at the landscape, it is clear that maize cultivation dominates the agricultural activities in this area. Most maize crops were managed by adding fertilizer of up to 600 kg per area, in a year. Farmers used hybrid seeds in order to harvest two or three times a year. Each harvest produced approximately 5000 kgs of maize. Other land-use types in this mountainous area were spotted candlenut (*Aleurites moluccana*), and kapok (*Ceiba pentandra*), which grew in lower areas. According to farmers, recent trends have seen candlenut trees felled and replaced with maize.

Farmers are required to wait until the productive period of the candlenut tree, which takes around three years. The tree fruits only once a year, when thousands of candlenuts fall from the trees, for several weeks. Each day farmers and their families collected the fallen fruit and transported it home. Some farmers processed the candlenuts manually, involving breaking the hard coats of the nuts one by one.

In the lower area of Bonto Cinde, some farmers managed kapok gardens. We met with the head of the farmers group to collect information about the cultivation of kapok. Generally, farmers planted kapok with maize on the same land. They managed maize for the first two years, while the kapok garden provided enough open space to allow sunlight to reach the maize plants.

Farmers recognized that the kapok tree is fast-growing with low requirements for input. Fertilizer was used for the maize during the first two years, as well as other chemical herbicides. Kapok farmers

began to harvest during the third year, with an average yield of 0.5 kg for each tree. Some of the farmers sold kapok unprocessed in sacks, and some processed it to produce a flexible thin bed of material, that was then shipped to Surabaya.

Complex mixed-garden systems were found in Campaga. This type of land use refers to multispecies of trees planted in the same area. Common tree species managed by farmers include cacao, coffee, clove (*Syzygium aromaticum*) and types of fruit trees. This type of land use reflects the change in farmers' preferences in choosing tree species. Prior to 1992, their land was planted with annual crops such as maize or shrubs, then in 1992 they began to cultivate cacao. Several years later, they heard about Arabica coffee and planted it between the cacao trees. However, they experienced low production of cacao and in 2009 they experimented with planting clove trees instead. Some fruit trees were also planted in smaller numbers, such as durian (*Durio* sp) and rambutan (*Nephelium lappaceum*).

Farmers in Campaga each applied approximately 400 kg of chemical fertilizer per year for their mixed-gardens. They also applied manure at the beginning of both cacao and coffee planting. Approximately 4 L of chemical herbicide was sprayed each year to remove unwanted vegetation. Other farming activities undertaken by farmers in this system included pruning, manual weeding, harvesting and the drying of coffee beans. The coffee-related activities were the most labour intensive, using approximately 86% of the total labour.

Mixed-gardens of different tree compositions were found around Tugondeng, where in 1 hectare of land, farmers usually cultivated 143 coconut trees mixed with 1000 cacao trees. Farmers regularly applied fertilizer of up to 480 kg each year for both coconut and cacao trees. Instead of routinely applying fertilizer, farmers also conducted manual weeding and spraying of other chemicals. Cacao pruning was undertaken each year during the productive period. Under this type of land management, a hectare of land produced an average of approximately 27 000 units of coconut fruit each year, and 946 kg of dried cacao beans.

In this area we also found farmers who utilized the coconut tree to make sugar. We noted this type of land use was very highly labour intensive. Twice a day farmers were required to tap the juice (a clear liquid contained within the coconut flower, locally called 'nira'), in the morning and the evening. They collected the coconut nira with a bucket or plastic bottle which they then placed into a pan. Each day they cooked this liquid on a fuelwood cooking stove in a simple wooden hut located in the garden

- 6 -

area. From every 30–35 coconut trees, 10 kg of coconut sugar was produced each week. It is estimated that their annual sugar production requires 44 m³ of fuelwood for each hectare of plantation.

Timber-gardens were found in Karassing, which is located close to Tugondeng. In this area, farmers utilized their land with homegardens, by planting fast growing trees such as sengon and gmelina. According to farmers, they started to plant trees when the government distributed free seedlings in 1990. After the first harvesting, more farmers were attracted to plant sengon and gmelina. During fieldwork, we found a farmer who was expanding his timber-garden to include teak.

Clove gardens were mostly found in upper Bantaeng and Bulukumba. In these areas, the landscape was dominated by trees, primarily productive clove trees. Farmers usually managed 200 clove trees per each hectare of land. Each year they conducted manual weeding to clean the ground of shrubs and dried leaves. The harvesting was undertaken every two years by hiring specialized harvesting labour. According to farmers, at the beginning of the harvesting years each tree can produce approximately 2 kg of cloves. The production then increases to 30 kg per tree when the tree reaches seven years.

Southeast Sulawesi

Seven major land-use systems in Konawe and Kolaka districts, Southeast Sulawesi province, were selected for profitability analysis (Table 3). We discovered that patchouli, pepper, sago and cacao were commonly found in monoculture systems. We also noted mixed-gardens included combinations of cacao-coconut and cacao-patchouli systems. All land-use systems were managed by smallholders, and ranged from 0.25 ha to 1 ha.

Category	Land-use type	Products	Scale of operation (ha)	Location (village)
Crops	Patchouli	Patchouli	0.25-1	Anggawo, Lamunde, Tinondo
Mixed-	Cacao-coconut garden	Cacao, coconut	1	Taosu
garden	Cacao-patchouli garden	Cacao, patchouli	1	Anggawo, Tinondo
Timber- garden	Teak garden	Teak	0.5-1	Anggawo
	Sago	Sago	0.5-1	Simbune
Monoculture	Pepper	Pepper	0.5-1	Lawonua
	Cacao garden	Cacao	1	Asipako, Tasahea, Taosu

Table 3. Selected main land-use systems in Southeast Sulawesi

In Southeast Sulawesi province, almost the entire area is dominated by cacao plantations. Cacao cultivation started in the 1970s, when various government programs encouraged tree planting in order to improve the production of exportable commodities. In the last 20 years, the area of cacao cultivation in Southeast Sulawesi has increased from 55 000 ha in 1990, to 230 000 ha in 2010 (Dirjenbun 1990–2010), with an average productivity of 966.01 kg/ha (KPPU 2009).

The productivity of cacao varies depending on the pattern of cultivation. Recent cacao productivity has declined, due to a number of issues such as the quality of seeds, pests and disease, and the plant requiring rejuvenation due to age. Decreasing productivity and pest attacks have caused farmers to start looking for other easily cultivated and more profitable crops.

In some areas where farmers had cultivated coconuts as their main income, they had begun to plant cacao under the coconut stands to generate more revenue. In order to utilize the land and increase profits, farmers had also begun to plant patchouli on the cacao plantations.

Farmers had started very recently cultivating patchouli. They were interested to cultivate this crop after seeing the success of farmers in other districts with it, such as in Northern Kolaka district. Their preference for patchouli was mostly due to the ease of cultivation, as patchouli can be harvested six months after planting, and then harvested every four months.

We also noted pepper as one of the significant commodities in Southeast Sulawesi, a crop that has increased in growth since 1990. Based on 2010 data from the total area of 12 193 hectares, more than 60% of the pepper plantation area is located in Konawe and Kolaka (BPS 2011). The cultivation of pepper in Southeast Sulawesi uses traditional methods, including farmers using gamal trees as climbing poles. According to farmers, the productivity of these crops was decreased due to pest attack.

Sago palm is widely grown in Southeast Sulawesi, encompassing vast areas in several districts, and has long been used as a staple food. The sago palm plantation area has reached approximately 5282 hectares (BPS 2011). People interviewed explained that historically sago was brought by migrants from Maluku Island to Southeast Sulawesi, where it was planted and then adapted to the new environment, before eventually spreading throughout the province. However, the current sago plantation area is declining due to excessive harvesting, lack of planting, and also settlement development.

- 8 -

In Konawe district, several villages in Lambuya and Uepai subdistricts are located directly adjacent to the forest. These villages have timber-based systems which range from around 0.5 ha to 1 ha. Teak planting in Southeast Sulawesi began in 2003–2005, as part of the implementation of a government reforestation program. During that period local government distributed free seedlings to be planted on private lands.

Summarized land-use productivity of selected land-uses both in South Sulawesi and Southeast Sulawesi is shown at Table 4.

		Main	Averaged Productivity		Labour use	Fertilizer
Site	Land use	products	Product ion	Unit	(ps- day/ha/yr)	(kg/ha/yr)
	Candlenut garden	Candlenut	1,890	kg/ha/yr	666	-
	Coffee garden	Coffee	778	kg/ha/yr	28	155
	Crops	Maize	10,000	kg/ha/yr	86	800
	Kapok garden	Kapok	5,096	kg/ha/yr	103	-
	Timber-garden	Sengon Gmelina*	870	tree/ha	26	-
	Mine de secoles	Cacao	857	kg/ha/yr		500
South	Mixed-garden	Coffee	313	kg/ha/yr	- 111	533
Sulawesi	Timber-garden	Gmelina*	935	tree/ha	29	-
		Cacao	857	kg/ha/yr		
	Mixed-garden	Coffee	268	kg/ha/yr	142	400
		Clove	182	kg/ha/yr	-	
	Coconut	Sugar	13,237	kg/ha/yr	1006	254
	Missed sender	Coconut	10,922	kg/ha/yr		504
	Mixed-garden	Cacao	946	kg/ha/yr	- 111	531
	Clove garden	Clove	381	kg/ha/yr	82	-

Table 4. Productivity of selected land-use systems

	Monoculture garden	Cacao	778	kg/ha/yr	83	500
		Cacao	748	748 kg/ha/yr	- 90	509
	Mixed-garden	Patchouli	12,500	kg/ha/yr	89	508
Southeast	Monoculture garden	Sago*	240	kg/ha/yr	117	-
Sulawesi	Mixed gorden	Cacao	704	kg/ha/yr	105	500
	Mixed-garden	Coconut	6,267	unit/ha/yr	105	
	Monoculture garden	Pepper	674	kg/ha/yr	227	105
	Timber-garden	Teak*	450	tree/ha	29	-
	Crops	Patchouli	12,500	kg/ha/yr	115	100

* at the end of period (harvesting).

Profitability

Table 5 shows the results of profitability assessment in the mountainous area of Bantaeng and Bulukumba, South Sulawesi. There were 11 land uses identified and assessed during the fieldwork. The table also indicates different periods of estimation. Mixed-garden and clove garden systems employ a period of 30 years, while the timber-based system employs a shorter period.

Table 5. Profitability and return to land of land-use systems in South Sulawesi

		1 cycle	Return to	land (\$/ha)
Type of land use	Main product	period (year)	At 1 cycle period	Equal per year
Crops	Maize	1	953	953
Kapok garden	Kapok	30	10,506	933
Kemiri garden	Kemiri	30	5,380	478
Coffee garden	Coffee bean (arabica)	30	5,946	518
Timber-garden	Sengon, gmelina	9	6,766	1,074
Timber-garden	Gmelina	8	7,629	1,317
Mixed-garden	Cocoa, coffee, fruits	30	10,188	888
Mixed-garden	Coconut, cacao	30	20,355	1,774
Coconut	Sugar	30	19,872	1,732
Mixed-garden	Cocoa, coffee, fruits, clove	30	17,136	1,492
Clove garden	Clove	30	36,459	3,239

Looking at the annual equity, the result shows that the most profitable land-use system is clove garden, followed by complex mixed-garden consisting of coconut and cacao. Clove that was cultivated in a monoculture system performed as the most profitable.

Farmers in Campaga also planted clove within their mixed-gardens three years ago but as yet they have been unproductive. Instead, they have had to provide more labour during the unproductive period.

The lowest profitability land use is shown as coffee gardens in Kayuloe. This system has no commercial products except for coffee beans. Farmers only planted Arabica coffee mixed with shading trees that have no economic value. In this system, farmers had allocated lower input (without even fertilizer application) leading to low production of Arabica beans. Coffee farmers also experienced a recent drop in the price of Arabica beans: in March 2012, they received a coffee price as low as IDR 10 000 per kg. The low production of coffee beans could be improved by rejuvenation and increasing the amount of input.

Our estimation of candlenut gardens shows that the system generates a low return to land. As observed during the fieldwork, we found that many candlenut gardens were increasingly replaced with other crops, such as maize. The domination of such crops replacing trees may increase environmental risks in the area. Improving farm management by introducing mixed systems such as agroforestry, would reduce the environmental risks without a significant loss to economic return.

The replacement of candlenut trees with maize possibly took place during the boom period in maize cultivation 5–10 years ago. During this period, farmers received prices of maize that were much higher than the current price of 1600 per kg. This could contribute to the continued preferences by farmers for maize. Another factor to consider is that income is generated more often from maize, which is harvested twice a year. In comparison, candlenut trees only produce once a year and involves high resources of labour in the fruit collection and post-harvest processing.

The result of the profitability assessment for Southeast Sulawesi province shows that all land uses are positive, indicating that they are profitable. Estimates of NPV using the annual equity are presented in Table 6.

		t Period ⁻ t (year)	Return to land (USD/ha)		
Type of land use	Main product		At 1 cycle period	Equal per year	
Monoculture garden	Cacao	20	3732	374	
Mixed-garden	Cacao, patchouli	20	4489	450	
Monoculture garden	Sago	15	4208	485	
Mixed-garden	Cacao, coconut	20	5588	560	
Monoculture garden	Pepper	20	22 936	2299	
Timber-garden	Teak	20	25 201	2567	
Crops	Patchouli	1	1938	1938	

Table 6. Profitability of land-use systems in Southeast Sulawesi.

For all land-use systems, patchouli is the most profitable. Undeniably, patchouli is an easy crop to be cultivated. Production requires very little input but can produce a large output. With a spacing of only 50cm x 50cm, the number of plants per ha reaches 2000 trees. Of this amount more than 10 ton of leaves and stems can be harvested. In the study site it was found that farmers were able to easily access collectors (middlemen) as well as businesspeople running distilleries. Although prices for patchouli fluctuate, within only six months farmers are able to produce crops, with harvesting taking place every 3–4 months. Due to the capacity of this product, for one year of cultivation, the net profit could reach USD 1938 per ha.

Other land-use systems with high profitability are teak gardens and pepper cultivation. As is well known, to fulfill the raw material requirements for the Indonesian domestic wood industry, people turned to private forest. Increasing domestic demand for wood has caused the price of teak to continue to rise. Although return to land can reach USD 2567, farmers are required to wait for 15–20 years to be able to harvest timber from the teak gardens.

Similarly, pepper prices continue to rise during the last four years—from IDR 40 000 in 2008, to IDR 65 000 in 2011. With productivity of 670 kg per ha, return to land of pepper reaches USD 2299 per year. The low productivity of pepper was due to farmers not following the recommended management, as well as lack of capital. However with the increases in price, the planting of pepper has been quite profitable.

As described previously, cacao plantation is the dominant crop in Southeast Sulawesi. However, our profitability assessment results show that the system generated a 20-year period of NPV as low as USD 374. This low return of cacao could be explained by the fact that productivity of cacao

cultivation is already declining due to the old age of the plants. To increase profit, plant rejuvenation and improvements to the patterns of cultivation is required. This low profit has caused farmers to begin to look for alternative crops or other plants to be planted along with the cacao. We calculated the profitability of cacao-coconut mixed-gardens as able to reach a return of USD 560.

The increase in demand for patchouli has resulted in farmers planting patchouli among cacao trees. This study employs a scenario of mixed systems of patchouli planted with 20-year old cacao. This is in accordance with what is taking place in the field. The profitability for this system only increases the return to USD 450. More studies are required to identify the implications upon production yield under a mixed system of patchouli and cacao.

Return to land of sago monoculture reached USD 485, which is slightly higher than cacao. Sago palm can only be harvested at an average age of ten years, hence assessing the productivity was not optimal as farmers have not yet undertaken intensive cultivation. However, while the profitability has a low value, sago palm has a social and culturally important role in Southeast Sulawesi.

Labour engagement

An interesting figure of labour engagement is demonstrated in Table 7. As return to labour is another indicator of profitability for labour, the higher return to labour of a land use means a higher level of attractiveness to farmers for engagement. In both study sites, the assessment results showed that return to labour of each land-use system was higher than the daily wage range.

In South Sulawesi, it is difficult to pinpoint the actual labour wage. This is due to some farming activities (such as land preparation) undertaken communally, with no cash provided to pay for the labour involved. The actual labour wage was commonly found in harvesting activities such clove, coffee, timber and kapok. This study used 30 000 IDR per day (3.3 USD per day) as one of the assumptions in all land-use systems in South Sulawesi. This value was raised when we asked the farmers to assess it, and it is lower than harvesting fees.

Table 7. Labour engagement

Type of land use in South Sulawesi	Return to labour (\$ per day)
Crops maize	14
Kapok garden	15
Kemiri garden	4
Coffee garden	19
Timber-garden sengon gmelina	40
Timber-garden gmelina	45
Mixed-garden cocoa coffee	12
Mixed-garden coconut cocoa	22
Coconut sugar	6
Mixed-garden cocoa coffee clove	16
Clove garden	40

Type of land use in Southeast Sulawesi	Return to labour (\$ per day)
Cacao	10
Mixed-garden cacao-patchouli	11
Mixed-garden cacao-coconut	11
Sago	11
Pepper	16
Patchouli	27
Teak garden	67

We noted that the coconut sugar system was the most labour-intensive. Although the system generates high NPV, the labour usage of this system altered the return to labour figure to the lowest level. Each year, in a hectare of coconut plantation used for sugar, they require approximately the labour of 1000 ps-day (people a day).

This figure confirms why in the field there was a contract based-system in managing coconut gardens for sugar. Under this system, farmers were able to rent 30–35 coconut trees costing IDR 50 000–100 000 for each coconut tree for a year. This rental system is commonly practiced with 30–35 trees to a household farmer.

In Southeast Sulawesi, all selected land-use systems performed return to labour above the daily wage rate of USD 5.5 per day. Teak monoculture had the highest return to labour. In fact, planted teak does not require a large amount of labour, as maintenance activities are performed only annually, and a large workforce is only required in the early years of planting.

4. Conclusion

In South Sulawesi there are several main land uses identified in the study area, ranging from crops (maize), simple mixed-gardens (candlenut, kapok, coffee, coconut-cacao and coconut sugar), complex mixed-gardens (cacao-coffee and cacao-coffee-clove), timber-gardens and monoculture systems (clove). The most profitable land-use system based on the annual equity measure is clove gardens, followed by coconut-cacao mixed gardens, and coconut gardens. Timber gardens generate the highest return to labour (USD 45 per day) of the other land uses, while the coconut for sugar system shows the lowest (USD 6 per day).

In Southeast Sulawesi, the land uses identified in the study area range from monoculture systems (cacao, patchouli, sago and pepper), simple mixed-gardens (cacao-patchouli and cacao-coconut), and timber-gardens. The most profitable land-use system based on the annual equity measure is timber garden (teak), followed by pepper monoculture, and patchouli monoculture. Timber-gardens of teak generate the highest return to labour (USD 67 per day) of the other land uses, while the cacao monoculture system generates the lowest (USD 10 per day).

We highlight some land-use systems that could be improved to increase economic return, as well as reducing environmental risks. Assisting farmers to manage mixed-gardens would reduce the environmental risks caused by the practice of crop planting that dominates in the mountainous areas. Incentives should be provided for focusing on tree-planting instead of on crops such as maize. Another assistance option is to assist farmers to access better germplasm such as cacao and coffee. Coffee farmers were experiencing unproductive periods and this system should be rejuvenated. The cacao farmers also need assistance in reducing pests and disease.

References

- [BPS] Badan Pusat Statistik. 2011. *Bulukumba in Figures 2010*. Kabupaten Bulukumba, Southeast Sulawesi: Badan Pusat Statistik.
- [BPS] Badan Pusat Statistik. 2011. *Konawe in Figures 2011*. Southeast Sulawesi: Badan Pusat Statistik.
- [BPS] Badan Pusat Statistik. 2011. *Kolaka in Figures 2011*. Southeast Sulawesi: Badan Pusat Statistik.
- [BPS] Badan Pusat Statistik. 2012. *Southeast Sulawesi in Figures 2012*. Southeast Sulawesi: Badan Pusat Statistik.
- Gittinger JP. 1982. *Economic analysis of agricultural projects*. 2nd ed. Baltimore: John Hopkins University press.
- Komisi Pengawasan dan Persaingan Usaha (KPPU). 2009. *Study of Industry and Trade of Cacao*. Jakarta: Komisi Pengawasan dan Persaingan Usaha.
- Luciano E, Peccati, L. 2001. Cycles optimization: the equivalent annuity and the NPV approaches. *International journal of production economics* 69(1):65–83.
- Vosti SA, Witcover J, Gockowski J, Tomich TP, Carpentier CL, Faminow M, Oliviera S and Diaw C. 2000. *Working group on economic and social indicators—report on methods for the ASB best-bet matrix*. Nairobi: International Centre for Research in Agroforestry (ICRAF).

WORKING PAPERS IN THIS SERIES

2005

- 1. Agroforestry in the drylands of eastern Africa: a call to action
- 2. Biodiversity conservation through agroforestry: managing tree species diversity within a network of community-based, nongovernmental, governmental and research organizations in western Kenya.
- 3. Invasion of *prosopis juliflora* and local livelihoods: Case study from the Lake Baringo area of Kenya
- 4. Leadership for change in farmers organizations: Training report: Ridar Hotel, Kampala, 29th March to 2nd April 2005.
- 5. Domestication des espèces agroforestières au Sahel: situation actuelle et perspectives
- 6. Relevé des données de biodiversité ligneuse: Manuel du projet biodiversité des parcs agroforestiers au Sahel
- 7. Improved land management in the Lake Victoria Basin: TransVic Project's draft report.
- 8. Livelihood capital, strategies and outcomes in the Taita hills of Kenya
- 9. Les espèces ligneuses et leurs usages: Les préférences des paysans dans le Cercle de Ségou, au Mali
- 10. La biodiversité des espèces ligneuses: Diversité arborée et unités de gestion du terroir dans le Cercle de Ségou, au Mali

2006

- 11. Bird diversity and land use on the slopes of Mt. Kilimanjaro and the adjacent plains, Tanzania
- 12. Water, women and local social organization in the Western Kenya Highlands
- 13. Highlights of ongoing research of the World Agroforestry Centre in Indonesia
- 14. Prospects of adoption of tree-based systems in a rural landscape and its likely impacts on carbon stocks and farmers' welfare: The FALLOW Model Application in Muara Sungkai, Lampung, Sumatra, in a 'Clean Development Mechanism' context
- 15. Equipping integrated natural resource managers for healthy Agroforestry landscapes.
- 17. Agro-biodiversity and CGIAR tree and forest science: approaches and examples from Sumatra.
- 18. Improving land management in eastern and southern Africa: A review of policies.
- 19. Farm and household economic study of Kecamatan Nanggung, Kabupaten Bogor, Indonesia: A socio-economic base line study of Agroforestry innovations and livelihood enhancement.
- 20. Lessons from eastern Africa's unsustainable charcoal business.
- 21. Evolution of RELMA's approaches to land management: Lessons from two decades of research and development in eastern and southern Africa
- 22. Participatory watershed management: Lessons from RELMA's work with farmers in eastern Africa.
- 23. Strengthening farmers' organizations: The experience of RELMA and ULAMP.
- 24. Promoting rainwater harvesting in eastern and southern Africa.
- 25. The role of livestock in integrated land management.
- 26. Status of carbon sequestration projects in Africa: Potential benefits and challenges to scaling up.
- 27. Social and Environmental Trade-Offs in Tree Species Selection: A Methodology for Identifying Niche Incompatibilities in Agroforestry [Appears as AHI Working Paper no. 9]
- 28. Managing tradeoffs in agroforestry: From conflict to collaboration in natural resource management. [Appears as AHI Working Paper no. 10]
- 29. Essai d'analyse de la prise en compte des systemes agroforestiers pa les legislations forestieres au Sahel: Cas du Burkina Faso, du Mali, du Niger et du Senegal.
- 30. Etat de la recherche agroforestière au Rwanda etude bibliographique, période 1987-2003

- 31. Science and technological innovations for improving soil fertility and management in Africa: A report for NEPAD's Science and Technology Forum.
- 32. Compensation and rewards for environmental services.
- 33. Latin American regional workshop report compensation.
- 34. Asia regional workshop on compensation ecosystem services.
- 35. Report of African regional workshop on compensation ecosystem services.
- 36. Exploring the inter-linkages among and between compensation and rewards for ecosystem services CRES and human well-being
- 37. Criteria and indicators for environmental service compensation and reward mechanisms: realistic, voluntary, conditional and pro-poor
- 38. The conditions for effective mechanisms of compensation and rewards for environmental services.
- 39. Organization and governance for fostering Pro-Poor Compensation for Environmental Services.
- 40. How important are different types of compensation and reward mechanisms shaping poverty and ecosystem services across Africa, Asia & Latin America over the Next two decades?
- 41. Risk mitigation in contract farming: The case of poultry, cotton, woodfuel and cereals in East Africa.
- 42. The RELMA savings and credit experiences: Sowing the seed of sustainability
- 43. Yatich J., Policy and institutional context for NRM in Kenya: Challenges and opportunities for Landcare.
- 44. Nina-Nina Adoung Nasional di So! Field test of rapid land tenure assessment (RATA) in the Batang Toru Watershed, North Sumatera.
- 45. Is Hutan Tanaman Rakyat a new paradigm in community based tree planting in Indonesia?
- 46. Socio-Economic aspects of brackish water aquaculture (*Tambak*) production in Nanggroe Aceh Darrusalam.
- 47. Farmer livelihoods in the humid forest and moist savannah zones of Cameroon.
- 48. Domestication, genre et vulnérabilité : Participation des femmes, des Jeunes et des catégories les plus pauvres à la domestication des arbres agroforestiers au Cameroun.
- 49. Land tenure and management in the districts around Mt Elgon: An assessment presented to the Mt Elgon ecosystem conservation programme.
- 50. The production and marketing of leaf meal from fodder shrubs in Tanga, Tanzania: A pro-poor enterprise for improving livestock productivity.
- 51. Buyers Perspective on Environmental Services (ES) and Commoditization as an approach to liberate ES markets in the Philippines.
- 52. Towards Towards community-driven conservation in southwest China: Reconciling state and local perceptions.
- 53. Biofuels in China: An Analysis of the Opportunities and Challenges of Jatropha curcas in Southwest China.
- 54. Jatropha curcas biodiesel production in Kenya: Economics and potential value chain development for smallholder farmers
- 55. Livelihoods and Forest Resources in Aceh and Nias for a Sustainable Forest Resource Management and Economic Progress
- 56. Agroforestry on the interface of Orangutan Conservation and Sustainable Livelihoods in Batang Toru, North Sumatra.
- 57. Assessing Hydrological Situation of Kapuas Hulu Basin, Kapuas Hulu Regency, West Kalimantan.
- 58. Assessing the Hydrological Situation of Talau Watershed, Belu Regency, East Nusa Tenggara.
- 59. Kajian Kondisi Hidrologis DAS Talau, Kabupaten Belu, Nusa Tenggara Timur.
- 60. Kajian Kondisi Hidrologis DAS Kapuas Hulu, Kabupaten Kapuas Hulu, Kalimantan Barat.
- 61. Lessons learned from community capacity building activities to support agroforest as sustainable economic alternatives in Batang Toru orang utan habitat conservation program (Martini, Endri et al.)
- 62. Mainstreaming Climate Change in the Philippines.
- 63. A Conjoint Analysis of Farmer Preferences for Community Forestry Contracts in the Sumber Jaya Watershed, Indonesia.
- 64. The highlands: a shared water tower in a changing climate and changing Asia

- 65. Eco-Certification: Can It Deliver Conservation and Development in the Tropics.
- 66. Designing ecological and biodiversity sampling strategies. Towards mainstreaming climate change in grassland management.
- 67. Towards mainstreaming climate change in grassland management policies and practices on the Tibetan Plateau
- 68. An Assessment of the Potential for Carbon Finance in Rangelands
- 69 ECA Trade-offs Among Ecosystem Services in the Lake Victoria Basin.
- 69. The last remnants of mega biodiversity in West Java and Banten: an in-depth exploration of RaTA (Rapid Land Tenure Assessment) in Mount Halimun-Salak National Park Indonesia
- 70. Le business plan d'une petite entreprise rurale de production et de commercialisation des plants des arbres locaux. Cas de quatre pépinières rurales au Cameroun.
- 71. Les unités de transformation des produits forestiers non ligneux alimentaires au Cameroun. Diagnostic technique et stratégie de développement Honoré Tabuna et Ingratia Kayitavu.
- 72. Les exportateurs camerounais de safou (Dacryodes edulis) sur le marché sous régional et international. Profil, fonctionnement et stratégies de développement.
- 73. Impact of the Southeast Asian Network for Agroforestry Education (SEANAFE) on agroforestry education capacity.
- 74. Setting landscape conservation targets and promoting them through compatible land use in the Philippines.
- 75. Review of methods for researching multistrata systems.
- 76. Study on economic viability of *Jatropha curcas* L. plantations in Northern Tanzania assessing farmers' prospects via cost-benefit analysis
- 77. Cooperation in Agroforestry between Ministry of Forestry of Indonesia and International Center for Research in Agroforestry
- 78. "China's bioenergy future. an analysis through the Lens if Yunnan Province
- 79. Land tenure and agricultural productivity in Africa: A comparative analysis of the economics literature and recent policy strategies and reforms
- 80. Boundary organizations, objects and agents: linking knowledge with action in agroforestry watersheds
- 81. Reducing emissions from deforestation and forest degradation (REDD) in Indonesia: options and challenges for fair and efficient payment distribution mechanisms

- 82. Mainstreaming climate change into agricultural education: challenges and perspectives
- 83. Challenging conventional mindsets and disconnects in conservation: the emerging role of eco-agriculture in Kenya's landscape mosaics
- 84. Lesson learned RATA garut dan bengkunat: suatu upaya membedah kebijakan pelepasan kawasan hutan dan redistribusi tanah bekas kawasan hutan
- 85. The emergence of forest land redistribution in Indonesia
- 86. Commercial opportunities for fruit in Malawi
- 87. Status of fruit production processing and marketing in Malawi
- 88. Fraud in tree science
- 89. Trees on farm: analysis of global extent and geographical patterns of agroforestry
- 90. The springs of Nyando: water, social organization and livelihoods in Western Kenya
- 91. Building capacity toward region-wide curriculum and teaching materials development in agroforestry education in Southeast Asia
- 92. Overview of biomass energy technology in rural Yunnan (Chinese English abstract)
- 93. A pro-growth pathway for reducing net GHG emissions in China
- 94. Analysis of local livelihoods from past to present in the central Kalimantan Ex-Mega Rice Project area
- 95. Constraints and options to enhancing production of high quality feeds in dairy production in Kenya, Uganda and Rwanda

2010

96. Agroforestry education in the Philippines: status report from the Southeast Asian Network for Agroforestry Education (SEANAFE)

- 97. Economic viability of Jatropha curcas L. plantations in Northern Tanzania- assessing farmers' prospects via cost-benefit analysis.
- 98. Hot spot of emission and confusion: land tenure insecurity, contested policies and competing claims in the central Kalimantan Ex-Mega Rice Project area
- 99. Agroforestry competences and human resources needs in the Philippines
- 100. CES/COS/CIS paradigms for compensation and rewards to enhance environmental Services
- 101. Case study approach to region-wide curriculum and teaching materials development in agroforestry education in Southeast Asia
- 102. Stewardship agreement to reduce emissions from deforestation and degradation (REDD): Lubuk Beringin's Hutan Desa as the first village forest in Indonesia
- 103. Landscape dynamics over time and space from ecological perspective
- 104. Komoditisasi atau koinvestasi jasa lingkungan: skema imbal jasa lingkungan program peduli sungai di DAS Way Besai, Lampung, Indonesia
- 105. Improving smallholders' rubber quality in Lubuk Beringin, Bungo district, Jambi province, Indonesia: an initial analysis of the financial and social benefits
- 106. Rapid Carbon Stock Appraisal (RACSA) in Kalahan, Nueva Vizcaya, Philippines
- 107. Tree domestication by ICRAF and partners in the Peruvian Amazon: lessons learned and future prospects in the domain of the Amazon Initiative eco-regional program
- 108. Memorias del Taller Nacional: "Iniciativas para Reducir la Deforestación en la region Andino -Amazónica", 09 de Abril del 2010. Proyecto REALU Peru
- 109. Percepciones sobre la Equidad y Eficiencia en la cadena de valor de REDD en Perú Reporte de Talleres en Ucayali, San Martín y Loreto, 2009. Proyecto REALU-Perú.
- 110. Reducción de emisiones de todos los Usos del Suelo. Reporte del Proyecto REALU Perú Fase 1
- 111. Programa Alternativas a la Tumba-y-Quema (ASB) en el Perú. Informe Resumen y Síntesis de la Fase II. 2da. versión revisada
- 112. Estudio de las cadenas de abastecimiento de germoplasma forestal en la amazonía Boliviana
- 113. Biodiesel in the Amazon
- 114. Estudio de mercado de semillas forestales en la amazonía Colombiana
- 115. Estudio de las cadenas de abastecimiento de germoplasma forestal en Ecuador
- 116. How can systems thinking, social capital and social network analysis help programs achieve impact at scale?
- 117. Energy policies, forests and local communities in the Ucayali Region, Peruvian Amazon
- 118. NTFPs as a Source of Livelihood Diversification for Local Communities in the Batang Toru Orangutan Conservation Program
- 119. Studi Biodiversitas: Apakah agroforestry mampu mengkonservasi keanekaragaman hayati di DAS Konto?
- 120. Estimasi Karbon Tersimpan di Lahan-lahan Pertanian di DAS Konto, Jawa Timur
- 121. Implementasi Kaji Cepat Hidrologi (RHA) di Hulu DAS Brantas, Jawa Timur.
- 122. Kaji Cepat Hidrologi di Daerah Aliran Sungai Krueng Peusangan, NAD, Sumatra
- 123. A Study of Rapid Hydrological Appraisal in the Krueng Peusangan Watershed, NAD, Sumatra.

- 124. An Assessment of farm timber value chains in Mt Kenya area, Kenya
- 125. A Comparative financial analysis of current land use systems and implications for the adoption of improved agroforestry in the East Usambaras, Tanzania
- 126. Agricultural monitoring and evaluation systems
- 127. Challenges and opportunities for collaborative landscape governance in the East Usambara Mountains, Tanzania
- 128. Transforming Knowledge to Enhance Integrated Natural Resource Management Research, Development and Advocacy in the Highlands of Eastern Africa
- 129. Carbon-forestry projects in the Philippines: potential and challenges The Mt Kitanglad Range forest-carbon development
- 130. Carbon forestry projects in the Philippines: potential and challenges. The Arakan Forest Corridor forest-carbon project
- Carbon-forestry projects in the Philippines: potential and challenges. The Laguna Lake Development Authority's forest-carbon development project

- 132. Carbon-forestry projects in the Philippines: potential and challenges. The Quirino forest-carbon development project in Sierra Madre Biodiversity Corridor
- 133. Carbon-forestry projects in the Philippines: potential and challenges. The Ikalahan ancestral domain forest-carbon development
- 134. The Importance of Local Traditional Institutions in the Management of Natural Resources in the Highlands of Eastern Africa
- 135. Socio-economic assessment of irrigation pilot projects in Rwanda
- 136. Performance of three rambutan varieties (Nephelium lappaceum L.) on various nursery media
- 137. Climate change adaptation and social protection in agroforestry systems: enhancing adaptive capacity and minimizing risk of drought in Zambia and Honduras
- 138. Does value chain development contribute to rural poverty reduction? Evidence of asset building by smallholder coffee producers in Nicaragua
- 139. Potential for biofuel feedstock in Kenya
- 140. Impact of fertilizer trees on maize production and food security in six districts of Malawi.

- 141. Fortalecimiento de capacidades para la gestión del Santuario Nacional Pampa Hermosa: Construyendo las bases para un manejo adaptativo para el desarrollo local. Memorias del Proyect
- 142. Understanding rural institutional strengthening: A cross-level policy and institutional framework for sustainable development in Kenya
- 143. Climate change vulnerability of agroforestry
- 144. Rapid assesment of the inner Niger delta of Mali
- 145. Designing an incentive program to reduce on-farm deforestationin the East Usambara Mountains, Tanzania
- 146. Extent of adoption of conservation agriculture and agroforestry in Africa: the case of Tanzania, Kenya, Ghana, and Zambia
- 147. Policy incentives for scaling up conservation agriculture with trees in Africa: the case of Tanzania, Kenya, Ghana and Zambia
- 148. Commoditized or co-invested environmental services? Rewards for environmental services scheme: River Care program Way Besai watershed, Lampung, Indonesia.
- 149. Assessment of the headwaters of the Blue Nile in Ethiopia.
- 150. Assessment of the uThukela Watershed, Kwazaulu.
- 151. Assessment of the Oum Zessar Watershed of Tunisia.
- 152. Assessment of the Ruwenzori Mountains in Uganda.
- 153. History of agroforestry research and development in Viet Nam. Analysis of research opportunities and gaps
- 154. REDD+ in Indonesia: a Historical Perspective.
- 155. Agroforestry and Forestry in Sulawesi series: Livelihood strategies and land use system dynamics in South Sulawesi
- 156. Agroforestry and Forestry in Sulawesi series: Livelihood strategies and land use system dynamics in Southeast Sulawesi.

The World Agroforestry Centre is an autonomous, non-profit research organization whose vision is a rural transformation in the developing world where smallholder households strategically increase their use of trees in agricultural landscapes to improve their food security, nutrition, income, health, shelter, energy resources and environmental sustainability. The Centre generates science-base knowledge about the diverse role that trees play in agricultural landscapes, and uses its research to advance policies and practices that benefit the poor and the environment.



United Nations Avenue, Gigiri • PO Box 30677 • Nairobi, 00100 • Kenya Telephone: +254 20 7224000 or via USA +1 650 833 6645 Fax: +254 20 7224001 or via USA +1 650 833 6646 Southeast Asia Regional Program - Sindang Barang, Bogor 16115 PO Box 161 Bogor 16001, Indonesia Ph: +62 251 8625415 - Fax: +62 251 8625416 www.worldagroforestry.org/sea